the editorship of Simon Townley; published in February 2022, following Volume XVIII (Ewelme Hundred) in 2016 and Volume XVI Henley and environs in 2011, it does not disappoint. Richly illustrated with 23 maps and plans, plus numerous photographs and drawings ranging across landscapes and a range of buildings ancient and modern (some no longer standing), as well as a wealth of original documents, it reveals what is distinctive about these still predominantly rural parishes and how they fit into the mosaic of surrounding parishes covered in other volumes. With the accounts of Shiplake, Eye and Dunsden and Caversham, it completes the account of Binfield Hundred begun in the noted Henley volume, thereby rounding off the account of an area of the pre-1974 south of the county situated in a large loop of the Thames, then the boundary with Berkshire, and straddling the south-west end of the Chiltern hills. With the exception of Caversham, now a populous suburb of Reading, Berkshire, most of the area covered lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. In the mid-nineteenth century it consisted of twelve, mostly long, thin 'strip' parishes, apart from rectangular Mapledurham, all of which bordered the Thames; for the most part, the parish churches lie near the Thames. All share the characteristics of nucleated riverside parish centres with hinterlands of scattered settlements in the wooded uplands of the hills, of predominantly agricultural economies, but with a significant role in woodland and associated crafts, while local industry included small-scale brickmaking and quarrying. With the advent of the railway from 1840, various of the pretty riverside villages attracted wealthy newcomers and associated building programmes in a gradual process of gentrification, most notably in Caversham, where ease of access to Reading via the Thames bridge saw incomers of a wider social range and a marked population increase.

Considerable boundary changes resulted in the early twentieth century, with some small parishes absorbed into larger ones (Newnham Murren, Mongewell and North Stoke are now part of Crowmarsh) and others splitting apart (Kidmore End and Caversham, Binfield Heath and Shiplake). The tale of these two halves is well-illustrated by the maps on pp.2 and 3, which contrast the twelve original strip parishes and their topography with the current seventeen civil parishes and their relative population densities. Caversham, with 12,894 households in 2011 far outstrips Goring at 1,375 households, and dwarfs Mapledurham's Mapledurham is mapped on p.270; it was described as still a 'feudal' parish in the 1970s, having been held by the descendants of Sir Michael Blount since his purchase of the manor and most of the village in 1582; his son Sir Richard (d. 1628) completed the present Mapledurham House (Plate 5) – one of many fine buildings found within these parishes. Sir Richard's descendant Edward Eyston is the current owner. This line was one of a number of recusant Catholic families in south Oxfordshire, with others being the Moleyns of Mongewell, the Hildesleys of Crowmarsh, and the Stonors of North Stoke. Crowmarsh was one of the larger settlements, boosted by proximity to Wallingford and its bridge on the Berkshire side, the honour of which owned five of the twelve parishes, including Newnham Murren. The latter originated as part of a large estate granted to a tenth-century queen from the royal manor of Benson, much of which was absorbed by the honour at one time or another. It was associated with quarrying and lime-burning from 1233 (when it probably supplied material for repairs to Wallingford Castle) until the 1920s; much gravel is still quarried in the area. It was also the home of the Wilder iron foundry, established on the site of a former farmstead by the church and based there until the start of this century. Today, the nearby Howbery Park estate, a nineteenth-century creation, is home to the UK Centre for Ecology and Hydrology and its very twenty-first-century concerns. Altogether, this volume is a fascinating and very welcome addition to the VCH stable.

KATHARINE KEATS-ROHAN Linacre College, Oxford

A History of Rowley-Wittenham. Deserted Medieval Village and Lost Parish. (Bradford-on-Avon Museum Monographs No 6). By Robert Arkell. 17 x 25 cm. 96 pp, 76 colour and b&w pls and figs, 10 tables. Bradford-on-Avon: Bradford-on-Avon Museum, 2022. ISBN 9781912020102. Price: £8.00 pb.

Overwhelmingly concerned with documentary sources, this lavishly illustrated small book leaves the presentation of the archaeological evidence for the deserted village of Rowley-Wittenham until page 73. Both understanding and interpreting the historical record are rendered more difficult by a boundary which shifts between Wiltshire and Somerset, the mutability of the place-names, the confusion of manorial tenures and the transference of the parish from Salisbury diocese to Bath and Wells in 1428. Problems are compounded by parts of the book's text which jerk from one historical topic to another, often losing the narrative thread in the process and voyaging along more than one tangential cul-se-sac. Despite many references to primary and secondary sources in the form of end-notes, it is sometimes unclear on what evidence a given statement is based. Similarly, some maps are inadequately captioned, and some boundaries they show are questionable.

An earthwork survey of the village site, conducted for a Bristol University MA dissertation in 1997, is reproduced along with LiDAR images, plots from two areas of resistivity survey and a photograph of a test-pit. Unfortunately, the relative positions of these are not correlated. More than one test-pit was excavated though none is located or described. By whom and for whom they (and the geophysical survey) were carried out is not stated. Beyond the plotting of rivers and streams on several maps, there is sadly little in the way of topographical description, while geology and soil types are not mentioned.

It would be quite mean-spirted not to suggest that this work is worth reading. Produced with great enthusiasm and touching on a huge variety of local subjects, it contains much that will interest students of medieval rural settlement in Wiltshire, Somerset and further afield.

ANDREW ROGERSON Great Fransham, Norfolk